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1880. Harvey owned a cattle 
ranch in addition to his real 
estate dealings, and joined 
several other men in founding 
another town in Shawnee 
county—Rossville. 

After saving up a significant 
amount of money from rental 
property and real estate 
trading in Topeka, they 
decided, in 1883, to head West 
with their coachman and pair 
of pinto horses. Harvey was 
wheelchair bound, a victim of 
polio many years earlier. Once 
they arrived, Harvey did his 
thing. He opened a real estate 
office and started buying land 

Harvey and Ida frequented the 
Cahuenga pass and valley area, 
and Ida became entranced by a 
fig orchard, which is now the 
middle of Hollywood 
Boulevard. They purchased the 
orchard in 1886 and an 
additional 120 acres, which 
encircled it for $150 an acre. 
This sounds amazingly cheap 
considering what Los Angeles 
real estate markets for today, 
but when the farmers he 
purchased it from original 
acquired the land, they had 
paid an average of $1.25 per 
acre. The Wilcoxes really gave 
the local farming economy a 
Hollywood may be dubbed
"Tinsel Town," but it isn’t a town at
all. It is a neighborhood, a
community, an area, a state of
mind, a lifestyle, and an industry. It
represents dreams, glamour,
celebrities, palm trees, and the
famed Hollywood sign is an image
found on billions (probably) of
tsotchkes, t-shirts, and artwork
around the world. Hollywood
symbolizes the epitome of success,
money, and fame.

It all started with the dreams of
Harvey Henderson Wilcox and his
wife, Daeida (Ida), but they were
very different than the ones that
people who are California dreamin’
have today. In fact, the couple
mandated that no alcohol was to be
found in Hollywood. How that
turned out is obviously another
story.

Before coming west to Los
Angeles, Harvey and Ida lived in
Topeka, the capital of Kansas. He, a
real estate agent and landlord, and
she, a boarding house matron.
They resided in the boarding
house, which was next to his office
on the main street, Kansas Ave.
Today the site is home to a national
car rental agency, which somehow
seems apropos. Ida was Harvey’s
second wife, and 29 years his
junior. Harvey was also involved in
politics in Topeka; he served as
president of the City Council for
1

continued on page 3
one term in 1870, and served as 
Topeka City Clerk from 1877 until

in the outlying areas 
surrounding Los Angeles.

boost.
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Notes From Our SCHS
Leader... 

REMINDER!  Don't forget to renew your membership!  
You can use the membership form in this issue!

Christine Steinkuehler

Good morning!
 It is an honor to be writing to you as President 
of the Shawnee County Historical Society.  Thank you 
for electing me and for putting your faith in me.  I am 
also thankful for a great team, the board, the 
membership and lots of people that love Shawnee 
County History.  
 We are working to get back to normal, and this month we will  be 
sponsoring the Regional National History Day Competition at Washburn University. 
This will be our 14th year of sponsoring this event, and I look forward to building a 
stronger relationship with Washburn. Getting the youth involved in our history is 
vital. As part of this we will be having a table at the event to hand out information on 
historical sites and events in the county and to sell a bit of merchandise.

  We are also bringing back the Preservation Awards. We will be asking the 
membership for nominations.  We are looking not just for preservation projects but 
adaptive reuse and remodels.  We also like to recognize individuals and organizations 
that have gone above and beyond in saving our built environment, so be thinking on 
these.  We are currently looking for a sponsor for this event. It is planned to be in 
early May. 

 There is also a fair bit of new in the works. One of the first of these things is 
we are opening a small gift shop at Cox Center with books, maps, and t-shirts.  We 
are also looking to begin working with the United Way for volunteers to sign up so 
that we can expand our offerings. 

 During Covid we discovered zoom, and, especially during the winter 
months, it works. It has been exciting to see people join us from around the country. 
Through zoom these presentations can be taped and later posted to YouTube.  I was 
thrilled last week when I was contacted by a Topeka High history teacher and asked if 
he could use our presentation with Dr. Mendoza in his Hispanic Studies class. I am 
working to increase awareness of our programs in the schools, and I think that this is 
just the beginning.

 I am excited to introduce a new bit of programming  in March: we are 
having a Shawnee County History Show and Tell.  This is where you, the members,  
bring in items from Shawnee County History and tell us about them.  I hope for this 
to become a regular event. So, start going through your drawers and finding things!  I 
also have set up a tour of the Ritchey Cemetery in April and we are working on the 
next house tour. 

 Once again, thank you! And I look forward to working with all of you 
this year!

 Christine



Society Calendar of Events
FEB 19 - Cheryl Brown Henderson on her perspective of Brown v Board   (via Zoom)
FEB 26 - Dave Fisher on the abolitionist Rev. Fisher
MAR 5 - Curtis Pitts on the past, present, and future of the Kansas Technical Institute
TBD   Historic Homes Tour    
DEC 3     Annual Membership Meeting , including Lunch.  $35  Location TBD

The public is welcome to any of these tours and presentations, and we'd love to see you!  
On-site tours are a benefit of your membership; non-members will be charged $5 per person.  

Memberships will be available at the events, and will allow you to attend all tours for a year!

In 1887, Wilcox filed a plat 
with the county, showing a 
rectangular grid with a main street 
called Prospect Avenue—now 
Hollywood Boulevard. A name for 
the subdivision was required, and 
Ida had the perfect one. A friend 
had a summer home near Chicago 
called "Hollywood," and Ida loved 
the name. It struck the right chord. 
With the help of Chinese and 
Mexican workers, Harvey laid out 
the tracts, and Ida had what would 
later be the streets lined with 
Pepper trees. In fact, Hollywood 
historian Edwin O. Palmer credits 
the Wilcoxes with planting 
Hollywood’s first citrus grove. In 
1903, Hollywood was incorporated, 
and then was merged into the City 
of Los Angeles in 1910.

Sadly, in 1891, Harvey died of 
an unknown illness. Ida was only 
30 years old, but she took over the 
business and the mission. 

“She was a woman of great 
personal charm, a genial 
companion, the best and truest of 
friends, and a worthy opponent,” 
wrote historian Palmer. “Her word 
was her oath, and she spared no 
pains to accomplish her 
undertakings. In benevolence, she 
was outstanding.”

After Harvey’s death, Ida not 
only continued the Hollywood 
mission, including seeing it become 
part of the city of Los Angeles, but 
she also donated the land for First 
Christian Church, St. Stephen’s 
Episcopal Church, the Hollywood 
Public Library, and Hollywood City 
Hall. She also built the Wilcox 
Building (located at today’s 
Hollywood and Cahuenga 
boulevards) for a bank and The 
Hollywood Club. She also married 
Philo Beveridge, the son of a former 
Illinois Governor. Together, they 
continued the mission.

Ironically, if the Wilcoxes 
had not stipulated the "no 
alcohol rule," the film industry 
might have taken a different 
turn. One of the consequences 
of the rules was that the 
Blondeau Tavern, a local staple 
in the area, was turned into a 
General Store. This didn’t go 
over well, and it sat empty until 
the Blondeau family sold it to a 
fledgling company from the 
East Coast called Nestor Film 
Company—which became the 
first actual studio in 
Hollywood. Scores and scores 
of studios and film investors 
moved into the area soon after, 
thanks to the four seasons, 
which were conducive to 
filming and a wide variety of 
landscapes to emulate almost 
any setting. A more important 
reason was that it was a place 
where filmmakers couldn’t be 
sued for infringement on 
patents, which were held by 
Thomas Edison and the 
Motion Picture Patents 
Company.

While scores of these 
companies did fail, many 
thrived. The first film 
completed in Hollywood was 
The Count of Monte Cristo, 
although it began production 
in Chicago. As for a film done 
in its entirety in Hollywood, In 
Old California takes the gold. 
By 1915, most of the major 
motion-picture companies had 
relocated to Hollywood from 
the East Coast. The story of 
Hollywood and the film 
industry is not unfamiliar.

While there are actually cities 
in Los Angeles called West 
Hollywood and North 
Hollywood, there is no 
“Hollywood.” But more than 
pop culture, it has become a 
name synonymous with a 
lifestyle, as well as an industry. 
The area or neighborhood 
known as Hollywood is located 
in the original Wilcox plat, but 
it’s not lined with studios 
anymore; they began moving 
out in the 1920s and 30s, but 
merchants needed the myth 
and a location where tourists 
could go since they weren’t 
allowed in the studio lots. 
During World War II, the 
canteen is what really gave 
Hollywood a boost. All 
throughout the war, over one 
million servicemen came to the 
area, and each wanted to see 
Hollywood. A huge industry 
popped up, with tourist traps 
and establishments to 
accommodate the servicemen.

Ida’s grandson, David 
Brunson, stated in 1987, “The 
merchants maintained the 
myth. They came up with the 
idea of putting a bunch of stars 
names in the sidewalk, though 
for the life of me I can’t 
understand why retailers 
would want to make the guy 
who’s walking in front of his 
store look at the sidewalk 
instead of the display window.” 
Oddly, neither Harvey nor Ida 
have stars on Hollywood 
Boulevard’s Walk of Fame.

But, the world has 
Hollywood.

Harvey's real estate office in Topeka was located in the 300
block of Kansas Ave., on the west side.

continued from page 1
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December Annual Meeting

    The Harvey Girls were the center of attention at the 76th Annual meeting of the Shawnee County 
Historical Society held December 5th   at the Great Overland Station. Cheryl Stuke, Alta Morris, and Joann 
Staley served over 50 members of the society as part of the presentation highlighting the history of the 
Harvey Girls.  After the serving of food, JoAnn Staley  gave a historical perspective of what the Harvey girls 
were and how they functioned in the late 1890’s and onward.  

During the meeting, the society selected 2023 Officers: President Christine Steinkuehler, Vice 
President Bob Keeshan, Treasurer Linda Jeffreys and Secretary Katy Franklin, shown below.
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Despite efforts from various 
organizations, the Docking State Office 
building in Topeka which was built in 
1957 is being torn down.    A Shawnee 
County judge dismissed in early January  
an effort to halt the demolition of the 
Docking State Office Building, saying the 
legal challenge was filed too late to merit 
consideration.

The challenge, filed by a 
preservationist group called Plains 
Modern, pushed to halt the building's 
demolition, arguing the state didn't 
follow proper procedures in 
orchestrating the project, given 
Docking's status on the National Register 
of Historic Sites.

Officials have long sought to replace 
or renovate Docking, which has sat 
largely empty in downtown Topeka for 
years as state offices moved to other 
locations.  A plan to reduce Docking to 
three floors with a combination of office 
and events space was approved by Gov. 
Kelly and a panel of lawmakers in 2021.

Docking State Office Building to Be Destroyed

Group Attendance Increasing at Ritchie House
Groups like these are returning to tour 

the Ritchie House at 1116 SE Madison. 
Our statistics show that we have doubled 
our attendance this past year and it 
appears we will have more coming to the 
oldest house in Topeka in 2023.   The 
pandemic curtailed most visits to Topeka 
sites the past 2 years but bookings for 
more tours have increased in the past 2 
weeks.  Normally, without the pandemic, 
we average about 2500 who tour the 
building each year. 

We are open 9 to 1pm Tuesday thru 
Thursday and you can call at 785 234 6097 
to secure a good time for your group to 
see and learn more about the Bleeding 
Kansas era.  
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THE RED BRICK BUILDINGS ON SBA HILL: A RETROSPECTIVE (Part 1)

                                                                   by Paul Post 

The following will be printed in two separate editions of the Historical Highlights as it is too long to present in one Volume. 

Martin's Hill, Cedar Crest, SBA Hill, the Menninger West Campus: these are the names by which the prominence west of Topeka has been known from 1856 down to the present day. Overlooking, as it does, the Kansas River Valley just to the north, and in the distance to the south, the Wakarusa Valley, this geographical landmark has maintained a close nexus to Topeka since shortly after the founding of our city. Its connection to the Topeka community continues to this day:  first with the construction in 2001-2002 by the Security Benefit Group of its national headquarters at the site from which that company originally began its work with admittedly a decidedly different mission in the first decades of the 20th Century; second with the recent announcement by SCL Health, current owners of the iconic “Tower Building,” of its intent to move forward with demolition of this national historic landmark if the property could not be transferred to someone interested in renovating and developing the building. The precipice upon which the Tower Building now sits has been prominent all throughout Topeka's history, not only in its physical sense, but as an important cultural symbol for the city's founders, entrepreneurs, and visionaries in their attempts to persuade the Topeka citizenry of the great potential for growth and progress exiting within their community. Let us spend a few moments, then, to look back at the imposing hill west of Topeka and its role in the growth and development of the capital city of Kansas. 

 

 

	I. 	Inauspicious beginnings. 

The hill west of Topeka rises nearly 150 feet above the Kansas River valley, and guards the western approach to the capital city. As a prairie landmark visible for miles, it was known to both the native Kanza Indians and the migrating Pottawatomies, with both tribes residing but a short distance from the hill. At the foot of the hill was the old Baptist Mission, which was built both to serve the native tribes, and to convert them to the white man's religion. Early reports from pioneers passing through the area to Oregon and other points west suggest that the hills west of Topeka were at one time barren of trees, with only grass on the summits and possibly a few clusters of oak and walnut along the streams. Perhaps here and there a lone red cedar rose above the native blue stem grasses. This would have been the scene in the 1850's as travelers made their way west. The Oregon Trail ran along the north plain of the Kansas River Valley, with the crossing at Pappan's Landing (in present day North Topeka) being on the main route. Some travelers, however, chose to follow an alternate, less traveled route, which took them to the Mission and the nearby Smith's ferry crossing of the Kansas River. 

First known as "Martin's Hill", the name was derived from the land's original and perhaps most prominent owner, John Martin of Tennessee. Martin was a southerner and a Democrat, who first came to Kansas to help settle the pro-slavery enclave of Tecumseh in April 1855. He became involved in territorial and county affairs, was a lawyer and later a judge. When Kansas was admitted as a free state in 1861, the fortunes of Tecumseh declined while those of Topeka, the newly named capital city, rose. Martin moved to Topeka. In 1873, he acquired a 240-acre farm located in Mission Township. Later, in 1893, Martin was appointed to finish the term of deceased 

United States Senator P.B. Plumb, becoming Kansas' first Democratic senator. Martin was obviously more interested in building his political fortunes than in land development and speculation, and until 1887 Martin's Hill remained nothing more than farmland. 

IL. “Boston of the West”[footnoteRef:1]  [1:  Shawnee County Historical Society Bulletin No. 46, To Martin’s Hill by Steam in Sixteen Minutes, article by Philip W. Whitcomb. ] 


In May of 1887, the Topeka Weekly Capital and Farmer’s Journal reported a "gigantic deal" whereby a Boston syndicate had made large purchases of land west of Topeka, including the 240 acres comprising Martin's Hill. Judge Martin received $35,000.00 for his acreage, which was no small sum for the time. Other Topekans who sold land to the syndicate included Judge J.B. McAfee (194 acres for $51,367.00); C.W. Jewell (100 acres for $50,000.00); G.G. Gage (90 acres for $45,000.00); and C.F. Kendall (160 acres for $48,000.00). The total land purchased was in excess of 1,500 acres for an aggregate price of $520,200.00). The newspaper reported that the 

"prime movers in the enterprise are G.F. Parmelee, president of the National Loan and Trust Company, and Colonel J.H. Broadus, two gentlemen, who, it is well known, have the necessary capital behind them to carry out their undertakings."[footnoteRef:2] A reporter from the Topeka Daily Capital interviewed Colonel Broadus, who told him that:  [2:  Topeka Weekly Capital and Farmer’s Journal, May 5, 1887, p. 5 ] 


Our syndicate has already purchased over a half million dollars’ worth of lands, and the contemplated improvements and manufacturing enterprises will require the expenditure of from $2,000,000.00 to $3,000.000.00. We are confident that Topeka has a bright future, that our city has a solid foundation for steady growth. We have purchased the franchise of the Circle Railway, which has been granted the right of way through your city and for a distance of four miles west of the city, and we propose to begin the construction of the road at an early day. It is the purpose of the company to make a beautiful summer resort out of Martin's Hill. A grand boulevard will be built out to the hill and around it, where a large hotel, botanical and zoological garden and an observatory station will be established, an artificial lake constructed, and other 

 

improvements made which will make it one of the most attractive summer resorts in the west. The property was not purchased for speculative purposes, but it is our intention to improve it in the manner I have indicated, and to develop it by establishing extensive factories. In short, we are not "boomers"; we invest because we know Topeka is a growing city; it has everything which goes to make up a great business center.3 

The syndicate membership included Frank R. Cordley, a member of the Boston banking firm of Cordley, Murray and Young, which group was described by the reporter from the Capital as 

[image: ]"among the wealthiest capitalists in the east." They were known among financial circles to be "among the heaviest capitalists in' the country . . . who did not invest their money in Topeka without being thoroughly acquainted with the city. They have examined the statistics . have noted the marvelous growth of the city in population . . . [and] have found that Topeka is a railroad and commercial center of the west." The article stated that "total clearings of the banks yesterday amounted to the unprecedented sum of $474,707.16, which is almost double the previous record made by our city. It is a marvelous day's business, and shows that after all Topeka is the greatest commercial center of the west. Kansas City can scarcely equal it." 

An article 40 years later, in the Topeka Daily Capital, reported that "the real estate men of today, who lay out suburbs, subdivision and 'developments,' are pikers. There isn't anywhere near Topeka today, and it is safe to assume that there will not be in the future, a project as gorgeous, pretentious and as evanescent as the dream of the Boston Syndicate which . . started out to make Topeka the second Boston of the west." Unfortunately, the depression of 1890 intervened, and laid waste to the grand visions of the Boston Syndicate. Some work had been done between 1887 and the early 1890's before the arrival of the depression. The Syndicate specialized in developing 

 

33 The Topeka Daily Capital, Wednesday, May 4, 1887, page 5. 

transportation systems, and acquired the "Belt Line" railroad which ran from the western terminus of the Topeka Street Car Company, just west of College Avenue and Sixth Street. While the Topeka Street Car Company was a horse car line, the Belt Line operated a steam locomotive which pulled small lead-colored cars at speeds between 12 and 25 miles per hour. The Belt Line ran west toward Gage Park along present-day Eighth Street, went through the center of the park, and terminated at a round house at the foot of Martin's Hill. The Syndicate had also acquired the West Side Circle rail line, and combined in with the Belt Line. They had constructed a hotel and were in the process of constructing a college to be known as Methodist University on the site of presentday Mount Hope Cemetery. 

An article in the Topeka Daily Capital, appearing on July 11, 1890, page four, described  the ongoing construction work underway at the new Methodist University. The reporter assured his readers that the excavations for the foundations had been completed and that a "large force of men were at work." The article also stated that "the trustees are determined to build in Topeka a great university of the west." The reporter waxed eloquent: 

For a number of years, the opinion has prevailed that Topeka affords the best location for a great institution of learning. While it is the political, commercial, and railroad center of Kansas, its healthful moral tone, its controlling religious sentiment, and the absence of evils which exist in other great cities, mark it as a place peculiarly fitted to be the home, temporary or otherwise, of young men and women. 

Four hundred acres surrounding the campus have been platted for residence purposes, to which the name of University Place has been given. The intention of the board of trustees is to make this the most beautiful suburban property in the vicinity of Topeka. Broad streets and avenues have been laid out, which will be parked and planted with rows of trees on either side and cultivated under the direction of a committee on improvements for three years from the time of planting. 

Unfortunately, when the entire Boston Syndicate development fell apart in 1894 with the coming depression, only a large hole where the foundation excavations were undertaken remained.[footnoteRef:3]  [3:  Bulletin of the Shawnee County Historical Society, No. 53, Rise of the City: Topeka’s Metamorphosis, p. 241.  ] 


The abbreviated attempt at development launched by the Boston Syndicate between 1887 and 1894 captured the imagination of Topeka during those years, and has become almost legendary as the years have passed. The story is periodically resurrected by the local news media as a hallmark of the capability of the capitalist mentality. Never mind that the venture failed — it was an idea ahead of its time. The 1924 piece in the Daily Capital described the concept as a 

[image: ]"gigantic dream" to make Topeka the “Boston of the West.” A 1961 article in the Topeka State Journal opined that the “big boom envisioned by a group of Boston developers for the Wanamaker area just west of Topeka may be about to blossom.”  That second piece noted that “before the early day development fizzled, Wanamaker had a hotel and country club, a going industry in the form of a sugar mill, and a couple of local steam railroads out from downtown Topeka.” One hundred years after the announcement of the land development by the syndicate, Zula Bennington Greene, “Peggy of the Flint Hills,” recalled the event in one of her columns appearing in the 

Topeka Capitol Journal and described it as a “marvelous dream that had taken hold of the people [of the city] in 1884 and mesmerized them into the belief. . . that Topeka was destined to be a great, powerful city, extending clear to Martin's Hill.” 

The coming depression ended the Syndicate's development work in Topeka. The Belt Line and West Side Circle railways ceased operations, and the developers planned to take up their 

 

tracks to salvage the steel in the rails. Local residents obtained an injunction, but despite that, the rails were mysteriously removed in the night. The Methodist University building got no farther than the foundation excavation. The bank holding the mortgage on Martin's Hill foreclosed, but even the bank eventually went out of business. Shortly thereafter, Frank Pitts MacLennan obtained title to 60 acres on the east slope of Martin's Hill. 

 	III. Cedar Crest – a hunting lodge. 

 

[image: ]Of Scottish descent, MacLennan was born in Springfield, Ohio, in 1855, and moved to Kansas at age 15 along with his family. He graduated from the University of Kansas, and found employment at an Emporia newspaper, becoming a part owner in 1880. At a sheriffs sale in 1885, he purchased the bankrupt Topeka State Journal, and remained its owner and publisher until his death in 1933.[footnoteRef:4] Sometime around 1905, he constructed a log house on Martin's Hill, which he intended to use as a hunting lodge. Legend has it that the structure was constructed from telephone poles specially shipped for the purpose, and was roofed with hand-hewed shake shingles. He named the cabin and the surrounding 60 acres “Cedar Crest” and turned it into a farm complete with a bass pond. The cabin was described as a  [4:  https://www.kshs.org/kansapedia/frank-pitts-maclennan/19331 ] 


  commodious one . . . with a wide porch extending entirely around it. A profusion of cedar trees surrounds the cottage. The large living room with its massive fire place is the acme of rustic beauty. . . Here is a cool retreat on the hottest days, and the big porch is a popular resort for the folks who live in the cottage and for those from the other buildings who come to enjoy its hospitality. 

Warren J. Newcomer's reminiscence, in his historical column appearing in the September 

6, 1975 edition of the Topeka State Journal, of the MacLennan's Cedar Crest hunting lodge, 

 

described the structure as "the site of many picnics and parties since its construction 70 years ago." Newcomer noted, however, that "even in the early 20th century the art of shake-shingle roofing was fading, and the rain poured in on MacLennan's guests, forcing them to huddle under umbrellas."  Newcomer noted that the original shake roof was replaced with a "more functional tin one in 1930." 

MacLennan was not alone is his desire to have a lodge in the country. Many well-to-do Topekans around the turn of the century enjoyed a weekend or country home, often near a river or lake. Frequently, land owners built their rustic vacation homes together, forming in the process a community or communal resort — the best known of these being Lakeview in Douglas County, which had been established along a Kansas River ox-bow. Opposite Martin's Hill, on the north bank of the Kansas River, was a row of cabins called Camp Mattingly. If the country property possessed significant acreage, the landowner on weekends became a "country gentleman." A 

MacLennan contemporary, Thomas F. Doran, a Topeka attorney of note, lived in a grand 

Edwardian house on Western Avenue, but also raised livestock at Dornwood, his farm east of 

Highland Park. As for MacLennan, a 1912 biographical sketch in Kansas: A Cyclopedia of State History, described the Cedar Crest life: 

On this farm he spends a great deal of his time during the summer months and entertains friends at all seasons of the year. Here he keeps cows, giving his family a supply of pure milk, cream and butter, raises poultry and vegetables, and finds relaxation from the busy cares of the city. On the farm is a tract of twenty-five acres of timber, and he has constructed a fish pond of two acres in extent, where he raises some fine bass. 

Walt Mason, an Emporia poet, paid homage to Frank MacLennan at Cedar Crest, as follows: “The sun was rising in the West, and shed its beams on Cedarcrest, where pensive goat and sportive cow were perched upon the cedar bough. There Frank MacLennan watched his flocks, and slugged the gentle sheep with rocks, and drove his hens to lakelet's brim, that they might dive, and bathe, and swim. The pigs were climbing elms and firs, the hired man gathered cockleburs; a doctor passed on horse's back and all the ducks called loudly: 'Quack!' The fruit tree agent asked to stay all night; the horses whinnied 'Neigh!' Peace hovered o'er the prairie wide; the cattle lowed, the horses highed; and sounded through the village smoke, the bark of watchdog, elm and oak. And he who owned these rustic scenes, had seeded down his farm to beans."[footnoteRef:5]  [5:  Pages 160-162 from volume III, part 1 of Kansas: a cyclopedia of state history, embracing events, institutions, industries, counties, cities, towns, prominent persons, etc. ... / with a supplementary volume devoted to selected personal history and reminiscence. Standard Pub. Co. Chicago : 1912. 3 v. in 4. : front., ill., ports.; 28 cm. Vols. I-II edited by Frank W. Blackmar. Transcribed December 2002 by Carolyn Ward. This volume is identified at the Kansas State Historical Society as microfilm LM195. It is a two-part volume 3. ] 


IV. A Mutual Benefit Society. 

This idyllic spot did not escape the attention of others. In 1917, a Topeka-based fraternal organization, the Knights and Ladies of Security, explored the possibility of establishing for its membership a community farm, which would be self-sufficient, and which would include a hospital, an orphanage, a school, and a retirement home. The idea was to acquire a location somewhere in the center of the United States, so that members from around the country would have equal access to the facility. Cape Girardeau, Missouri and Topeka were the finalists, with the Kansas capital city being the eventual winner of the competition. In 1918, the society, which had become the Security Benefit Association, purchased 62 acres of MacLennan’s' Cedar Crest, including the rustic cabin. 

The concept of the "mutual benefit society" was one product of the populist wave of the early 20th Century. The Knights and Ladies of Security was just such an organization, and it convened a commission to devise a method of providing and delivering health care to its membership. In a sense, the Knights and Ladies of Security, and other similar mutual benefit organizations, became the originators of "managed care" in the early decades of the 1900's, 

 

although the concept was not labeled as such until the latter part of the century. For the Knights and Ladies of Security, the idea was to create and maintain a home for aged members of the society, to establish an orphanage for children of deceased society members, and to build a hospital for current members of the organization. The overall concept was to create a mutual cooperative farm which would provide a continuum of care to members and dependents from the youngest child to the oldest pensioner. 

[image: ]In 1917, the first voluntary contributions to the Knights and Ladies of Security were in the amount of five cents per month per member. More than 50,000 nickels were sent in during the 10 days following the announcement by the Society of plans to construct a mutual cooperative farm in Topeka. The facility was officially known as "the Knights and Ladies of Security Home and Hospital Association."[footnoteRef:6] The farm was marketed to the citizenry of Topeka as having a great potential for further economic development for the city, and accordingly, a fund-raising effort was undertaken by the Society directed at Topeka residents.8 The deed granting the land for the farm to the Society specifically recited that the land was conveyed "upon the express condition that the grantee [the Society] shall expend not less than $100,000.00 in improving the same within 36 months," and that if this did not occur, the Society would forfeit the land and also be obligated to pay $32,000.00, this representing the "funds raised by the citizens of Topeka for the purchase of said land." The deed was dated July 2, 1918. Thus, the link between Topekans and the future mutual benefit farm and its structures was direct.  [6:  The Knights and Ladies of Security Newsletter, October 1919, p. 2; https://kansashistoricalsociety.newspapers.com/image/519084717 8 The Topeka State Journal, March 25, 1922, page 12. 
End Part 1.  The Next part of this presentation will be in the next edition of Historical Highlights slated for the fall.
] 




Construction of the farm began immediately, and the facility was completed within the requisite time. In 1919, the Knights and Ladies of Security changed its name to The Security 

 

Benefit Association, and the farm, located as it was on the high landmark to the west of the city, became known as "SBA Hill." Between 1919 and 1928, SBA erected two nursing homes, an orphanage, a power plant, a home for the nursing staff, an apartment building for members, a school and auditorium, a band shell, and a large hospital building. The orphanage building was most visible, being on the south crest of SBA Hill, just opposite what would later become the WIBW studios. For members who continued to pay their "nickel a month," they were guaranteed use of any of the services provided at the farm, their only additional obligation being that of providing their own transportation to Topeka. In fact, for many years, a train station stood at the north base of SBA Hill to receive incoming members arriving at the farm.[footnoteRef:7]  [7:  The Topeka State Journal, March 8, 1920, p.6. ] 


Construction of the remaining buildings followed as the years passed. In 1930, two wings and a tower were added to the hospital, making it a replica of Independence Hall. The hospital, later called the Tower Building, became a visible landmark after the 1930 additions, and resulted in an increase in the size of the hospital from 40 beds to 250.  Modern (for the day) surgery suites on the north side of the third floor had ceiling to floor windows to allow for natural light to be used during surgical procedures. Patients were housed in wards on the east and west wing. The second, third, and fourth floors of the Tower Building were used for the offices of physicians and for clinic rooms. Atop the Tower, was the "great clock," which had a four-dial face, each twelve feet in diameter. It was the master clock which controlled fourteen smaller clocks throughout the hospital. A circular stairway below the clock gave access to it, as well as a view of the panorama of the Kaw 

River Valley to the North, Topeka to the east, and hills stretching on to the west. The overall 

 

dimensions of the Tower Building were 232 feet in length, and 120 feet in depth from north to south, giving a total floor space of 71,800 square feet.[footnoteRef:8]  [8:  National Register of Historic Places Registration Form, approved by the National Park Service on November 30, 20005. ] 


The SBA farm was truly self-sufficient. An undated edition of The Security News, the official SBA newsletter, portrayed life at SBA --  

Not all the residents of the farm are just folks. A wide variety of life is represented. Perhaps the proudest denizens are our peafowl as they strut and preen and spread their wondrous feathers in joy of living in this Eden. The pigeons, the ducks, the geese, the turkeys and the pheasants have their homes, and in their hutches the rabbit families grow and grow. In the big lake in the woods game fish tempt the lover of the piscatorial art. While they may not know it, these residents as they fatten and multiply are creating food supplies for the tables in our Homes and Hospital. 

[image: ]We have one of the finest herds or pure-bred Holsteins in the country, and are supplied with all the milk and butter necessary for our needs. There are forty head of cattle in the herd. They have excellent pasturage, and are housed in the finest and cleanest dairy barn in the West. We also have more than a hundred head of Poland China hogs on the farm, and these surely pay their keep in the saving they effect in butcher's bills. In fact, nearly all the milk, eggs and meats, as well as the vegetables used, are products of the farm. 

Hay and grain for livestock are raised on the farm. The acreage under cultivation gives fertile yields. About twenty acres have been added to the tillable soil by clearing timber land along the river, and some tremendous crops of corn and potatoes are grown there. We also have beautiful young orchards that add materially to the food supply. 

At its zenith, the Security Benefit Association was comprised of 250,000 members residing in 32 states. By paying their monthly dues, members of the association were entitled to 

any of the services of the farm for free once they arrived at Topeka.  Hospital services were 

 

available to sick or injured members. An orphanage for children of deceased members was provided, along with a free school. Aging and retired members could obtain housing. 

[image: ]Unfortunately, the full potential of the newly expanded hospital building was never realized, as it was completed during the first full year of the Great Depression. Rising levels of unemployment resulted in loss of monthly income to SBA, which, in turn, caused curtailment of services to members. SBA, as a mutual benefit association, never fully recovered the effects of the depression. Added to that were the changes wrought by World War Il to the practice of medicine. Shortly after the war, the first modern health insurance companies began to be organized, which made mutual aid organizations and their facilities even less viable. In 1950, the SBA governing body voted to become a mutual life insurance company, and soon discontinue the services available at SBA Hill. In fact, the facility was vacated on what was truly a moment's notice. Several years after closing, visitors to the hill could still find patient files open on physicians' desk, and the operating room ready for the next surgical procedure, with instruments laid out alongside the operating tables. The place had an eerie feeling to it, as though a plague or some similar tragedy had consumed the populace all at once. V. The-Menninger-Connection. 

At the same time that the Security Benefit Association was developing its community farm„ the Menninger Clinic was founded in the early 1920's by Dr. C.F. Menninger. In 1925, Dr. Menninger and his two physician sons, Drs. Karl and Will Menninger, obtained a $20,000.00 mortgage for the purchase of a farmhouse and 20 acres on land on the outskirts of Topeka, just east of Gage Park. The farmhouse was remodeled into a 13-bed hospital for the mentally ill. Other nearby buildings housed offices and patient activities. According to a 1982 article appearing in the 

Menninger Perspective, the small hospital was the fulfillment of a dream — the establishment of a group psychiatric practice in which doctors worked together with a common ideal to provide the best diagnosis and treatment for their patients. "We had the vision," Dr. C.F. Menninger later said, "of a better kind of medicine and a better kind of world." 

By the late 40's the Menninger Clinic had reached its capacity at the facility which had grown up around that original clinic building. Menninger was looking to expand, and offered to lease the SBA property in 1954. In 1961, Menninger purchased SBA Hill, which became known as the West Campus. For 20 years thereafter, Menninger provided services at both the East and West Campuses. At the West Campus, the building renamed Neiswanger Hall, located on the southeast edge of West Campus, had originally been used to house elderly SBA residents, but became the home for the Topeka Institute for Psychoanalysis. Dr. Karl Menninger also moved his office to that building. The building which was named Dean Hall by the Menninger Clinic was originally used by SBA as a nursing home, but became the Menninger seminar center. Dean was located on the south-central part of the campus, near the power plant. The building renamed 

Murphy Hall, just to the west of the Tower Building, was first built as an apartment building during SBA's tenure, but became the center for the Menninger Department of Education. Clevenger Hall, originally the orphanage, later was used for the Menninger Partial Hospital program. Just to the north of that building is a structure now known as Stauffer Hall, which for years has been leased by Menninger to the WIBW stations. This building originally housed the S.B.A. school. Built by 

S.B.A. at a cost of $ 150,000, the school, according to an article published by the Topeka Daily Capital on August 16, 1925, contained classrooms for younger and older students, a manual training room, a library, and an auditorium with a seating capacity for 1,000 persons. After Menninger purchased the campus, the Tower Building became the administration center for 

Menninger, and also is the home to the Menninger museum and library. 

In 1982, the Menninger Board of Trustees voted to consolidate all activities at the West 

Campus, and to dispose of the East Campus. A $22 million fund-raising effort, known as the "Campaign for Brains and Bricks,"[footnoteRef:9] was undertaken to build new facilities amidst the familiar red brick buildings which then constituted the West Campus. The structures, completed at a cost of $35 million, were constructed of whitewashed brick, and changed forever the face of the Hill. In all, eighteen new buildings were constructed among the eight already existing. These included the C.F. Menninger Hospital with four living halls for 166 adult patients, adjacent office buildings for staff members, a three-building creative arts complex including an academic center, wood shop and arts building, a horticulture therapy building and greenhouse, a physical recreation building, a new dining hall known as Thornlea Commons to be available to patients, staff and visitors, and a large conference area known as the Seeley Conference Center. An article in the Menninger Perspective described the overall finished result:  [9:  Kansas State Historical Society, Menninger Foundation Archives. Corporate Records of the Menninger Foundation. Records of the Menninger Foundation Central Administration. Administration subject files. Menninger-IR Per-Y (inc West Campus Move) 1970s. ] 


The beauty of the site and its sturdy, attractive buildings established several priorities for the design of the new campus: to preserve the natural beauty of the land and trees, to complement existing buildings, and, most importantly, to establish and maintain a human scale. These values relate to the Foundation's concern for the individual and the quality of life. Unlike a college campus or a general hospital, a psychiatric hospital must provide a total therapeutic environment. These priorities were followed through design and construction. The location of each of 1,280 trees of 57 varieties was carefully surveyed. Wherever possible, buildings were located to not only avoid removing trees, but to use the trees to enhance the building design; fewer than 2 per cent of the trees had to be removed. The overall design of the new buildings is contemporary, simple to construct and maintain. All buildings are residential in style and scale. Only two have more than two floors. The exterior is of brick painted white to maintain a residential feeling and to contrast with the red brick of the existing buildings and the seasonal colors of the landscape. Natural materials are used 

 

throughout the project — brick, wood and fabric. Even the ceilings of the buildings, patient rooms, and covered walkways are naturally finished wood — fir and hemlock. Even the globed streetlights are unusual. They are more than 50 years old and were obtained from a small southwestern Kansas town — at a savings of some $30,000.00. 

 

The article concluded with a look back at the words from a former director of the 

Security Benefit Association: 

I climbed the hill and when you reach the top, well I wish every member of the order could have the opportunity to view the glorious scene that lay before me. This little valley, surrounded by its hills, seemed to have been made for peace and quiet and for the very purpose for which it is now intended. It doesn't require any strain of the imagination to picture our members who are convalescent, setting in the shade of the trees enjoying the health-giving breezes that roll over the hilltops where they can look out over the country in every direction. 

As had earlier happened in this century, the economics of health care delivery began to change in the late 1980's with the advent of "managed care" companies and health maintenance organizations, which represented a departure from the traditional "fee for service" system utilized by medicine and insurance companies following World War Il. Where "fee for service" provided payment for whatever reasonable charge was made by the treating physician or admitting hospital, "managed care" sought to limit utilization of ever more costly health care services and procedures by actually paying doctors more for patients who stayed well. Managed care also undertook to second guess medical decisions made by physicians by either refusing to allow the requested procedure altogether, or only paying a set amount for authorized procedures, regardless of whether the provider sought to charge more. 

[image: ]Menninger, which had become an internationally recognized mental health facility, was especially renowned for its long-term inpatient treatment program. However, with the passage of time, the managed care bean counters began to reject long-term inpatient treatment in favor of shorter inpatient stays or even a mix of short inpatient treatment followed by outpatient therapy. This resulted, over then span of approximately ten years, in a complete restructuring of many of the traditional Menninger programs, and a concomitant loss of earnings. Accordingly, the Menninger Board of Trustees began looking for ways to save money. Deferring maintenance of buildings was a quick way to stop the bleeding, but over time, this took its toll, both on the new and older buildings, but more seriously to the older red brick structures, which are approaching their eighth decade of existence. Ultimately, building maintenance deferment was not sufficient to correct the problem, and a series of job layoffs ensued, beginning in 1995, and continuing through 1998. A further reduction in force in 1998 resulted in elimination of 57 jobs, along with the decision to relocate from four of the old red brick buildings: Clevenger, Dean, Neiswanger, and Murphy. 

In February 1999, the Menninger administration announced the decision to raze these four buildings. Neiswanger, housing the former office of Dr. Karl, was the first to go, and was demolished on May 24, 1999. The remaining three building were demolished during the course of the summer, with Clevenger, the last, be razed in September 1999. The Tower Building, the WIBW building, the power plant, and one other structure from the days of SBA Hill remained.  However, the former WIBW building was destroyed by fired in January 2012.  

In 2007, SCL Health of Denver, Colorado, the owner of St. Francis Hospital, announced plans to build a new hospital on the hill, and proceeded to demolish many of the remaining Menninger buildings, including those which had been built in the early 1980’s.  Unfortunately, the 

2008 Great Recession put an end to those plans, and other than razing most of the buildings, SCL never developed the property.  In 2017, SCL announced impending closure of its existing hospital building in Topeka, which was avoided on when the property was transferred to a joint venture undertaken by the University of Kansas Health Systems and the for-profit Ardent Health Services. 

 The deterioration of the Tower Building is ongoing. Water leakage is a serious problem in the tower, itself, and has compromised the structural integrity of that part of the building. The north entrance, immediately under the tower, has been cordoned off  because of concern about pieces of stone actually falling off the tower. Its future is far from certain.  Fortunately, the old Power Building and an adjacent structure that was formerly a dormitory for nurses are being restored by the Sunflower Foundation to house its headquarters and education center. 

VI. And-the-Future? 

If the advance of a society can be understood through the evolution of those structures which house the activities of living and working, then the development of 20th Century medicine may also be traced through observation of the changes which have occurred in that most important of medical facilities, the hospital. Medicine is certainly not a product of this century, with the concepts and precepts of that learned discipline originating in classical Greek thought, if not earlier. However, the marriage of medicine to technology and the progeny which has emanated from that union is the hallmark of medicine in the last century. The technology-based medical model probably had its beginning in the horrors of the Civil War, and certainly, by end of the 19th Century, the marvels of medicine were expanding exponentially through its connection with scientific research. At the last turn of the century, 120 years ago, surgical techniques were greatly advanced thanks to the discovery of effective anesthesia. The x-ray had been discovered and was being used as a diagnostic tool, and the field of psychiatry was in full bloom. The 20th Century may truly be called the century of medicine. 

The story of S.B.A. Hill is directly associated with this saga of modern medicine as it evolved through the 20th Century. Where land speculators of the century before failed in their attempt to develop the hill into a resort, the founders of the Knights and Ladies of Security were able to accomplish this task, at least for the benefit if its membership. The medical model which evolved there was holistic. The continuum of care was expansive — from cradle to grave. Thirty years later, when medicine changed course and SBA reinvented itself to become a life insurance company, the S.B.A. farm was transfigured into the setting for a therapeutic psychiatric community nestled among the Kansas hills. The close of the last century saw the unfortunate destruction of those classic old red brick structures, but in the early days of the 21st Century as in the last, perhaps "everything old is new again." Security Benefit, no longer a life insurance underwriter but now a mutual fund powerhouse, “returned home” again to reestablish its headquarters on the south slope of the hill where its charter began over one hundred years ago.  From that vantage point, the progeny of the Knights and Ladies of Security can keep a watchful eye on the tower, its former home, which today still stands on the crest of S.B.A. Hill. 
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